IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TIFFANY ANN COLE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SCO8-528

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.___/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FL 32301 billmc@leoncountyfl.gov (850) 606-1000

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 201170

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The original record on appeal consists of fifteen volumes. Volumes 1 through 4 containing the records of the lower court will be references with the prefix "R" followed by the volume and page numbers. Volumes 5 through 15 contain the transcript of the trial and other proceedings and will be similarly designated with the prefix "T." Three separately bound and numbered volumes contain the exhibits introduced in the case. The exhibits are identified by the exhibit number assigned at trial. A two volume supplemental record containing additions motions and a portion of a hearing transcript are also separately bound and numbered. References to

the supplemental record will use the prefix "SR." An appendix to this brief contains a copy of the trial court's sentencing order.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress Of The Case

On August 18, 2005, a Duval County grand jury returned and indictment charging Bruce Nixon, Alan Wade, Michael Jackson and Tiffany Cole with two counts of first degree murder for the deaths of Carol Sumner and James Sumner between July $8^{\rm th}$ and July $15^{\rm th}$ of 2005. (R1:2-4) Additionally, the indictment charged two counts of armed robbery and two counts of armed kidnapping. (R1:2-4) The defendants were prosecuted separately, and Tiffany Cole proceeded to a jury trial with jury selection commencing on October 15, 2007. (T5:1,18) At trial, the prosecution pursued the two counts of murder and the lesser offenses of unarmed robbery and unarmed kidnapping on the remaining counts of the indictment. (T7:410-412; T12:1406-1411, 1426-1431; R1:147-149) On October 19, 2007, the jury returned guilty verdicts on all counts. (T12:1441-1444; R1:133-138) The verdicts for the two murder counts specifically noted they were based on premeditation and felony murder with robbery and/or kidnapping as the underlying felony. (R1:133-134) The court adjudged Cole guilty after the verdicts were returned. (T12:1444)

On November 29, 2007, the penalty phase of the trial commenced. (T14:1461) After hearing additional evidence, the jury recommended a death sentence for the two murders with a vote of 9 to 3. (R1:189-191; T15:1777) The court conducted a <u>Spencer</u> hearing on January 31, 2008. (R4:573) On March 6, 2008, Circuit Judge Michael Weatherby imposed a death sentence for the two murder counts, life imprisonment for the two kidnappings and 15 years imprisonment for the robberies. (R1: 275-284; R4:633-652) The court filed a sentencing order on March 6, 2008, setting forth reasons for imposing a death sentence. (R2:289-308) However, the court filed a corrected version of that order on April 1, 2008. (R3:465-484) A copy of the corrected sentencing order is attached to this brief as an appendix.

In his sentencing order imposing death, Judge Weatherby found seven aggravating circumstances: (1) previous conviction for a capital felony based on the contemporaneous conviction for the two homicides; (2) homicide committed during the commission of a kidnapping; (3) homicide was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel; (4) homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner; (5) homicide was committed for financial gain; (6) homicide was committed to avoid arrest; (7) the victims were particularly vulnerable due to advanced age or disability. (R3:465-477) In mitigation, the court found four statutory mitigating circumstances: (1) Cole had no significant history of prior

criminal activity (some weight); (2) Cole was an accomplice to the homicide committed by another and her participation was relatively minor (little weight); (3) Cole's age of 23 at the time of the crime (some weight); (4) Cole acted under the substantial domination of another (little weight). (R3: 477-479) The court found nonstatutory mitigation as follows: (1) Cole's minimal involvement in the criminal activity (little weight) and Cole's minimal criminal history (some weight); (2) Cole's psychological problems (little weight); (3) Cole's model behavior while incarcerated awaiting trial and her likelihood of good adjustment to prison life (some weight); (4) Cole's family history of love and support and her caring for her younger siblings and her ill father (some weight); (5) Cole's history of alcohol and drug abuse and resulting personality changes (little weight); (6) Cole's positive character traits including a history of caring for others, good employment history, and her expressions of concern and remorse for the victims (some weight). (R3:479-482)

Tiffany Cole filed her notice of appeal to this Court on March 13, 2008. (R 2:316)

The Prosecution's Case

James Reginald Sumner and Carol Sumner moved from South Carolina near Charleston to Jacksonville in February 2005. (T7:490) James also used the name Reggie. Both of them were 61 years-old and in poor health. (T7:490, 493-495) Carol Sumner had liver cancer, hepatitis C, diabetes and fibromyalgia. (T7:493-494) Reggie was a brittle diabetic and had recently broken a leg. (T7:494-495) Carol's daughter, Rhonda Alford, lived in Charleston, but she spoke to them every day by telephone. (T7:489,496-497) When Alford was unable to reach them by telephone for two days, starting on July 5, 2005, she became concerned. (T7:498) A sisterin-law who lived in Jacksonville, Elida Sumner, spoke to them by telephone on July 8th. (T7:511-513) Elida asked if they needed help moving a television. (T7:514) Carol said a friend from Charleston and her friend had been there and moved the television. (T7:514) Alford called the Jacksonville sheriff's office to check on the Sumners. (T7:498-499) She came to Jacksonville the next day. (T7: 499)

Alford went inside the Sumners' house and found it to be in an unusual condition. (T7:499-502) There was food spread out all around the kitchen. (R7:500) The dog had been left unattended. (T7:500) Carol's Sumner's cell phone and day planner that she always carried were there. (T7:500) Reggie Sumner's cane and wheelchair were in the house. (T7:500) All of the Sumners' medications were still there. (T7:500) A number of latex gloves were strewn about on the kitchen floor. (T7:500) Alford also noticed that the tower portion of the computer was missing. (T7:501)

Detective David Meacham contacted the Sumner's bank and inquired about the account usage. (T7:529,533-534) There had been a number of ATM transaction totaling thousands dollars over the previous several days, starting on July 9, 2005. (T7:534, 536) The account had only rarely been accessed by ATM previously. (T7:534) Meacham identified the ATMs used around north Florida and obtained security videos of the transactions. (T7:534-535) The videos showed a male making the transactions and some videos showed him getting out of the passenger side of a silver Mazda RX-8 sports car. (T7:536-539) The detective knew the male was not Reggie Sumner. (T7:539) Meacham thought the new sports car seemed unusual given the amount of money being taken that totaled about \$5000. (T7:539-540) In order to aid the investigation, the detective asked the bank to keep the account open. (T7:541)

On July 12, 2005, Vindell Williams, and off-duty Jacksonville Sheriff's patrol officer, discovered the Sumners' Lincoln Towncar abandoned in Baker County. (T7:518-520) The car was located at the end of a dirt road near a small area of woods in the vicinity of Williams' house. (T7:520-521) He first noticed the car on July 10th, but he went back to the car on July 12th after hearing a report of a stolen car matching the description. (T7:521) Williams secure the car's location and radioed for the officer in charge. (T7:521-523) The windows of the car had been left open. (T8:682) Inside the vehicle, investigators found sand in the floorboard;

pieces of duct tape in the floorboard, the backseat and the trunk; four different type shovels in the trunk; and a cup. (T8:677-682) On the ground near the car, a five dollar bill stuck to a piece of duct tape was found. (T8:679)

After the discovery of the Lincoln, the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office received telephone calls the same day from someone identifying himself as James R. Sumner. (T7:542) Detective Meacham returned a call and recorded the conversation. (T7:542-565)(State Exhibit 23) During the conversation, Meacham spoke to a male who identified himself as James Sumner and a female who identified herself as Carol Sumner. (T7:542-543) Later in the investigation, Meacham identified these individuals as Michael Jackson and Tiffany Cole. (T7:542-543) Jackson, pretending to be James Sumner, said he and his wife were in Delaware for a funeral. (T7:545) A friend called him and said his Lincoln was missing from the garage and the house had been burglarized. (T7:545-547) He also inquired about the bank accounts because the ATM cards did not work. (T7:557) He understood the car had been found. (T7:549) Meacham inquired about names of family pets, the airline used to fly to Delaware, the name of the airport and the town in Delaware where they were staying. (T7:555, 559-564) Meacham determined that the town in Delaware did not exist and the airport mentioned handled only cargo flights. (T7:565) Meacham also spoke to Cole who pretended to be Carol Sumner. (T7:551-555) She spoke of

relatives in Charleston, gave Meacham her social security number and spoke about having cancer. (T7:551-555) Meacham testified that Michael Jackson carried off the conversation rather smoothly. (T7:579-580)

The telephone call to the sheriff's office was tracked to a cell phone in the name of David Jackson at a Charleston address. (T7:566-567; 590-593) Based on the cell towers usage, the cell number was linked to calls made in Jacksonville on July 8, 2005, in the vicinity of Reed Avenue between 9:49 and 10:15 p.m.(T7:596-T8:606) Another call at 12:50 a.m. was made using the cell tower in MacClenny. (T7:600; T8:604-606) The cell phone records showed a call was made to Triangle Rental Car. (T7:567-568) This rental car company had rented a silver Mazda RX-8 to Tiffany Cole, and the car was overdue. (T7:568) In the process of trying to recover the car, the company used a GPS tracking system in the car. (T7:568-The system did not track in real-time, but it did show where 569) the car had been driven. (T7:568) One location was in Jacksonville near the Sumners' residence on the evening of July 8th. (T7:568-569) Another location showed the car was in the location of an ATM machine and at a time when someone using the Sumners' ATM card was photographed. (T7:569-570)

Janet Jackson was a friend and neighbor of Reggie and Carol Sumner. (T8:608-610) She saw a silver sports car parked at the Sumners' two or three times after July 4, 2005, including around

11:30 p.m. on July 8th. (T8:612-622) However, she never saw any person connected to the car. (T8:616)

Law enforcement authorities in Charleston located and arrested Michael Jackson, Alan Wade and Tiffany Cole. (T8:632-644) They occupied two motel rooms rented in Tiffany Cole's name. (T8:640) Jackson and Cole occupied one, and Alan Wade was in the second room. (T8:641-643) A search warrant executed for the rooms and Tiffany Cole's car, a green Chevy Lumina parked at the motel, revealed several items with the Sumners' name and property later identified as the Sumners'. (T8:644-659) Detective Meacham traveled to Charleston where he interviewed Tiffany Cole. (T8:754-T9:909)

recorded Meacham obtained а statement from Cole. (T8:759)(State Exhibit 42) During the interview, Cole began to tell Meacham about the crime. (T9:828) He confronted her with the fact that he thought she had talked to him on the telephone earlier. (T9:829) At that point, she admitted she had, but she had been told what to say. (T9:829) Cole stated she was not supposed to know everything that happened because she knew the Sumners. (T9:829) Committing thefts and hurting people was not something she did. (T9:830) Cole knew that Jackson and Wade were going to the Sumners' to get property and credit cards. (T9:830-831) Initially, Tiffany said she stayed at a motel room, and Mike and Alan came back with the property, credit cards and other paperwork from the Sumners. (T9:831-835) On further interrogation, Cole

again said she did not know everything that took place inside the Sumners' house, but she was told that they had been tied with duct tape. (T9:843) Tiffany stayed outside in the car with Jackson, and Wade and Wade's cousin, Bruce, went inside the house. (T9:843-846) Cole did not know Bruce's last name at that time, but she told Meacham he lived in MacClenny. (T9:843-844) This was the first information Meacham received about a fourth person being involved. (T9:944) Jackson also went inside. (T9:846) All four of them drove to the house in the silver car. (T9:847) When Cole was called on the cell phone, she returned to the house to pick them up. (T9:847-848)

On her return, Cole only picked up Jackson because Wade and Nixon were driving the Sumner's Lincoln. (T9:848-849) Cole stated that the four of them drove to a remote wooded area. (T9:854-859) Cole was driving the Mazda with Jackson as a passenger. (T9:854) Wade and Nixon were in the Lincoln, and Cole followed them to the woods. (T9:854) Jackson communicated with Nixon and Wade with a cell phone. (T9:854-855) During one of these conversations, Cole first overheard the information that the Sumners were inside the trunk of the Lincoln. (T9:855-856) After driving down a dirt road, Cole was directed to stop the Mazda and stay there, while Jackson, Wade and Nixon went further into the woods with the Lincoln. (T9:856-857) Cole could not see where they went in the woods since it was dark. (T9:857) Jackson would walk back and forth from the

road where Cole waited and the woods where they took the Lincoln. (T9: 856-857) Cole did not know what happened to the Sumners. (T9:858) The four of them left the area with both cars after about an hour. (T9:858) After a long drive, the Lincoln was abandoned. (T9:863-864, 866) Cole gave Meacham the best information she could about directions to the wooded area. (T9:859-863, 952)

After the crime, no one actually said the Sumners were dead --- they did not talk about it. (T9:890) Cole thought they were dead, and the bodies would never be found in the remote woods. (T9:890) Jackson used the ATM machines to get money from the Sumners' account. (T9:878-881) They stayed a few days in Jacksonville, and then Jackson, Wade and Cole went to Charleston. (T9:884-886)

Before the crime, Cole stated the four of them had discussions about taking property from the Sumners, but there were no discussions about harming anyone. (T9:887) Cole told Meacham that she did make purchases for a variety of items they needed during the days leading up to the crime. (T9:871- 874, 915-917) None of them had any money, but she had a bank account, and she wrote bad checks to support them. (T9:872-874)

Later, Bruce Nixon was arrested, and he led law enforcement to the exact location of the burial site. (T10:1004-1006) Dr. Anthony Clark performed the autopsy on James Sumner and Carol Sumner.

(T10:1069, 1073-1101) Although Clark did not go to the burial site, he reviewed photographs taken during the exhumation of the bodies. (T10:1074-1075) He noted that the bodies were together in somewhat of a kneeling or sitting position at the time of burial. (T10:1091-1092) The bodies were showing modest decomposition. (T10:1077) Clark's external examination of the bodies revealed no obvious causes of death. (T10:1077-1089; 1086-1088) There were no signs of trauma or fractures. (T10:1080-1083, 1086-1087) The autopsy did confirm that both James and Carol Sumner suffered from osteoporosis. (T10:1087) Additionally, Carol Sumner had hepatitis C and liver problems. (T10:1086) Clark found no evidence of manual or ligature strangulation. (T10:1088-1089) An internal examination of the bodies showed evidence of mechanical obstruction of the airways that could have caused suffocation or smothering. (T10:1089-1090) In both, Clark found dirt in the airways, mouth, throat, in the trachea and esophagus. (T10:1093) These finding lead Clark to the conclusion that the victims were alive when placed in the hole and covered with dirt. (T10:1091-1097) Because the bodies were found in a kneeling position, Clark thought the weight of the dirt on them would have compressed the diaphragm making breathing more difficult. (T10:1090-1091) As the dirt reached the mouth and nose the soil would have obstructed the airways. (T10:1090-1091) Clark rendered an opinion that death for

both was homicide by mechanical asphyxia and smothering. (T10:1099-1100)

Bruce Nixon testified for the State at trial. (T9:962) He admitted that he participated in the murder of the Sumners in July 2005. (T9:963-964) The other participants in the offense were Alan Wade, Michael Jackson and Tiffany Cole. (T9:964) Nixon testified that his good friend, Alan Wade, asked him if he wanted to help rob someone. (T9:965-966) Wade came to Nixon's house driving a Mazda RX-8, and as the two of them drove around in the car, Wade mentioned getting money by a robbery. (T9:966) This occurred perhaps as much two weeks before Nixon became involved. (T9:966; T10:1014) Sometime later, Wade called Nixon and asked him to help him dig a hole. (T9:967) Wade was going to pay Nixon to help dig the hole. (T9:967) Nixon acquired four shovels. (T9:968) Alan Wade, Michael Jackson, and Tiffany Cole picked Nixon up in the Mazda RX-8. (T9:968) Nixon placed the shovels in the trunk of the car, and the four to them drove away looking for a location to dig the hole. (T9:968) The location selected was a wooded area near where Nixon lived, although he said he was not familiar with the exact road. (T10:1025-1026) After finding a location, Wade, Jackson and Nixon dug the hole while Cole held the flashlight. (T9:970-972) Base on the conversations they had in the car, they all knew the hole was for the robbery. (T9:970-971) However, Nixon did not know how the hole was to be used. (T10:1059)

Nixon did not know he was digging a grave. (T10:1017) On the drive back to Wade's house, Wade asked Jackson if Nixon could participate in the robbery, and Jackson agreed. (T9:973)

Nixon spent the next two days with Wade, Jackson and Cole. (T9:973) A day later, after the hole was dug, Nixon learned for the first time the robbery would include getting money from the Sumners' bank accounts and the death of the Sumners. (T9:974) Nixon said, at that time, all four of them were involved in the discussion about the death of the Sumners. (T9:974-976) He had no idea what the other three may or may not have discussed about killing the Sumners before that time. (T10:1059) At one point, Jackson said he would kill the Sumners by injecting them with a lethal dose of some medicine. (T10:1048-1049) There were discussions about the possible proceeds from the robbery in the amount of \$200,000. (T9:979) A day before the actual crime, the group talked about whether to go inside while the Sumners were home or wait for them to return. (T9:977) Cole knew they had physician appointments, since she had talked on the telephone with the Sumners. (T9:977) The decision was made for Wade and Nixon to enter the house. (T9:977) Jackson and Cole were to wait outside until the Sumners were secured with duct tape, including taping over their eyes, and then Jackson would enter and find the banking information. (T9:978) Jackson did not want the Sumners to be able to see him. (T10:1048) Wade was to carry the duct tape inside, and

Nixon was to carry the realistic-looking toy pistol. (T9:978-979) There was no plan about what to do inside until they reached the house, and Jackson started directing them on what to do. (T10:1050)

Nixon and Wade entered the Sumners' home about 10:00 at night using the ruse of needing to use the telephone. (T9:980) Wade grabbed Reggie Sumner, and Nixon had the toy pistol. (T9:979, 980-981) The Sumners complied with the directions Nixon and Wade qave to them. (T9:981) The Sumners asked not to be hurt, and Nixon and Wade told them they would not hurt them. (T9:981) After binding the Sumners with duct tape and taking them to a bedroom, Nixon's job was to stay with them. (T9:981-983) Jackson entered the house, and he and Wade searched for property, credit cards, and banking information. (T9:983) Jackson, Nixon and Wade placed the Sumners in the trunk of the Lincoln that was parked in the garage. (T9:983-985) Jackson had trouble opening the trunk, and Nixon had to open it. (T9:983-984) Wade and Nixon left in the Lincoln. (T9:985) Jackson and Cole followed in the Mazda. (T9:985) They stopped to put gas in the Lincoln, and they made the trip to the wooded area where the hole had been dug. (T9:986)

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