IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TIFFANY ANN COLE

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC08-528

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____ /

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM
ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 158541

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
PL-01, THE CAPITOL
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050
(850) 414-3566
(850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

MR. TILL: That's okay.

THE COURT: -- he couldn't get anything less than 52. What's the relevance of the tattoos, Quentin?

MR. TILL: I will go on to something else.

THE COURT: Okay.

(Sidebar discussion concluded.)

BY MR. TILL:

Q Mr. Nixon, did you previously tell us that the tape over the eyes of the Sumners, maybe what you testified to, but also the additional reason was so that they could not see Michael Jackson?

A Yes, sir.

Q Huh?

A Yes, sir.

Q Okay. If I may address one other issue. Under your plea agreement and after you testify and you are sentenced you can get below the 52 years and life in prison, could you not?

A Whatever the Judge want to give me. I am not real sure.

Q It's up to the Judge, isn't it?

A Yes, sir.

Q But Mr. Chipperfield told you that that's a possibility, isn't it?

A He said it's a possibility but probably won't happen. That's what he said.

Q Possibility -- a possibility after you testify, is that right?

A It's a possibility.

Q And you would like that, wouldn't you?

A Yeah. Yes, sir.

(TR X 1042-1045) (Emphasis added)

Third, Cole suggests that because the jury knew the trial court would be the sentencer, his remark somehow would have greater impact. Clearly the record is not supportive of this notion. The most important information to be conveyed was-- if Nixon testified against Cole his sentence might be lighter. Nixon stated that his defense counsel told him that that was a possibility, however there was not any agreement to that and, Nixon admitted he was not relying on it. The jury heard Nixon

testify more than once that he had no reason to believe his sentence would be something other than 52 years to life.

Fourth, there was no evidence that based on the afore-noted colloquies, the trial court's earlier comment "carried greater credibility." While ultimately, Nixon was sentenced below the guideline's range to 45 years for the murders, the jury did not know what sentence he received. Moreover, based on everything the jury heard from Nixon's testimony re: sentence to be imposed, the jury only knew he was hoping for a lighter sentence—which is exactly the point defense counsel made. The notion that the court rebuked defense counsel is well beyond what actually occurred on this record.

Lastly, Cole argues that the "critical" importance of the trial court's remark, had to do with the "impeachment of Bruce Nixon. . . a key witness for the state." (IB 46)

Nixon was a key State witness. He was able to detail what happened when the Sumners were duct taped in their house and explain what occurred in placing them in the trunk of the Lincoln prior to their murders. He was the only co-defendant to testify against Cole and, was instrumental in clarifying what Cole's role was in the murders. However, having acknowledged his relevance to the State's case, that truth, did not elevate the value of his testimony or diminish the defense's ability to

impeach his testimony. (See Nixon's cross-examination TR X 1010-1057)

Defense counsel on cross-examination, challenged Nixon's motives to testify against Cole based on "finally" working out a deal with the State, almost two year after the murders, on March 12, 2007. (TR X 1010) The jury knew the reason Nixon plead guilty to second degree murder was to avoid harsher sentences. (TR X 1011) The jury also knew that Nixon had not been sentenced yet, and therefore they knew he was motivated in the presentation of testimony unfavorable to Cole. (TR X 1011-1012)

Defense counsel also questioned Nixon about his "willingness" to come forth to authorities regarding the murders. The record shows that, not only was Nixon aware that his roommate was threatening to tell the police that Nixon was involved, but Nixon also was afraid to get into trouble. He decided that he would help himself by showing authorities where the bodies were located, once he became tied to the robberies and murders. (TR X 1019-1021)

Nixon was grilled on cross by defense counsel, about his failure to take any action to stop the murders (TR X 1034, 1035, 1040), and how he bragged to people at a party, post-murders, how he got pills and participated in the crimes. (TR X 1052-1053)

In an effort to rehabilitate Nixon, on redirect, the State questioned him regarding the murders, as to when he knew the Sumners would be robbed. He replied that he knew after the others included him in the crime following his assistance in digging the hole. He was then told the hole was the Sumners' grave. (TR X 1060) He stated that everyone knew it was a grave. He further stated that he was in it for the money, and had he backed out or stopped the crime occurring, he would not have received money. (TR X 1060)

Finally, he stated, he never heard Cole express any desire to back out of the crimes, or murders. (TR X 1061)

Nixon on direct, corroborated Cole's testimony that she was not present when the Sumners were placed in the pre-dug grave and buried, however he did confirm that Cole was:

1. an active member and participant in the selection of the Sumners, (TR X 992, 1048, 1060, 1061),
2. was involved in the planning of the crimes, (TR X 977),
3. discussed the Sumners' murders, (TR X 971, 974-975, 992),
4. participated in securing the grave site, (TR X 968-969),
5. knew it was a grave, (TR X 970),
6. purchased materials needed for the crime, (TR X 994),

7. transported co-defendants to the Sumners and then to the gravesite, (TR X 969, 976, 979-980),
8. participated in spending the money, (TR X 975), and
9. planned and was part of a diversion should the police try and stop them on the way to MacClenny. (TR X 984-985)

Nixon's knowledge of any incriminating evidence as to Cole's participation in the "entire crime" and what happened in Charleston after Cole, Jackson and Wade left Jacksonville, was limited by two major factors. First, Nixon was a late-comer to the criminal plans, he was recruited by Alan Wade a couple weeks earlier to commit a robbery and dig a hole. Nixon was never cross-examined or impeached, on his testimony that he only learned about the murder plans after he helped dig the hole days before the murders. Second, Nixon left Cole, Jackson, and Wade the next day after the murders and never was asked or testified about their arrests in Charleston or the calls Jackson and Cole made to the Jacksonville police.

Cole argues that the "improper admonishment" not only remained uncorrected but, the jury was left with a misleading view of counsel. She likens the remark to a comment about the weight of the evidence, citing Hamilton v. State, 109 So. 2d at 424, Esposito v. State, 243 So. 2d 451 (Fla. 2d DCA 1971) and

Jacques v. State, 883 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004) and Simmons v. State, 803 So. 2d 787 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002)

Each case is distinguishable and provides no support for reversal.

In Esposito, supra., the Court held that:

"Although the state did not elect to conduct a redirect examination and informed the witness that it had no more questions to ask, the trial court judge indicated that 'the statement that he got nothing [was not] correct and shouldn't be so considered by the jury.' Counsel for appellant immediately requested that the court grant a mistrial on the ground that the court's commenting upon the testimony of the witness had prejudiced his client's defense to an extent that made a fair trial highly unlikely. The motion was denied.

We agree with appellant's contention. A determination as to the credibility of a witness is uniquely within the realm of the jury's deliberations and should in no way be infringed upon by the trial court. Stovall v. State, 156 Fla. 832, 24 So.2d 582 (1946)..."

Sub judice, the court did not comment on any evidence before the jury, or for that matter comment on any evidence at all. Rather the court merely stated that that was not the case. Defense counsel made no objection or asked for clarification but rather moved on with his cross-examination. As previously noted, at a later bench conference the matter was discussed further, and the court allowed the defense to re-inquire. The response by the witness was very similar to his previous answer,

that being, that his counsel stated that whatever the sentence would be was up to the judge.

Moreover as noted, there was no sentence, at the point of questioning, and the "agreement" that Nixon testify for the State in Cole's murder trial, was the only factor that was to decide the sentence Nixon was to receive. Defense counsel was not likely to seek further clarification of the judge's remark after he fully explored the limits of Nixon's knowledge as to what sentence he might receive for testifying in this case and co-defendant Wade's case.

While defense counsel had no reservation about raising the issue again, he also had the opportunity on cross-examination of Nixon to further explore this point. Thereafter, he declined to voice any concern that that opportunity fell short of redress. In Esposito, a timely objection preserved the issue for review.

In Jacques, supra., the court found the statement made by the trial court violated the very principle set forth in Hamilton, supra.:

"...We think the comment in the present case is similar. The trial judge's comment, "That's not what she said and that's not what the record shows," was a comment on the weight of the evidence and credibility of the witness. Just as in Brown, this was a case based on the credibility of the witnesses, and Jacques's defense was predicated entirely on the believability of Fondrose's recantation of her statement identifying Jacques as the shooter. The trial court's comment

indicated to the jury that there was evidence of bias on Fondrose's part. This comment supporting the state's position might well have affected the outcome of the case.

We conclude that in this case, in which the sole issue was the credibility of the witnesses, the trial court's improper commenting on the credibility of a witness constitutes fundamental error. 'Fundamental error, which can be considered on appeal even without a proper objection or preservation in the lower court, is error which goes to the foundation of the case or goes to the merits of the cause of action.' McKenzie v. State, 830 So. 2d 234, 238 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002)."

Equally inapplicable to this case is Simmons, supra., where there, unlike this case, the trial court truly admonished counsel in the present of the jury. The court therein held that: "Appellant, Terrance Simmons, was convicted of aggravated assault by a jury. The State's evidence primarily consisted of testimony from the victim and one other eyewitness. The defense attacked the credibility of these witnesses during cross examination and closing argument. During the State's rebuttal, the prosecutor ridiculed the defense argument, saying, 'according to the defense, no crime occurred here because [the victim] said it was a butcher knife and [the eyewitness] said it was a steak knife.' The trial court overruled defense counsel's mischaracterization of evidence objection by saying, 'it is accurate and dead on point. Sit down, Mr. Boothe.'"

Nothing even vaguely similar occurred herein.

Finally, even if the trial court remark was error, the error was harmless. The harmless error rule does apply to this situation. See Millett v. State, 460 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). The State has carried its burden "to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict or, alternatively stated, that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction," Rigsby v. State, 639 So. 2d 132, 133 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) (quoting State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1138 (Fla. 1986)). See Harmon v. State, 527 So. 2d 182, 186-187 (Fla. 1988) wherein the Court held:

We also reject Harmon's argument that the trial judge committed fundamental error by commenting on the credibility of Larry Bennett on four occasions, resulting in a denial of Harmon's constitutional rights to due process and to a fair trial. After the state concluded direct examination of Bennett, defense counsel sought to impeach Bennett with prior statements alleged to be inconsistent. On two occasions, when the prosecutor objected on the ground that the statements were not inconsistent, the trial judge replied that the statements seemed consistent to him also, but that it was for the jury to decide. The third alleged improper comment occurred when, during redirect examination, Bennett testified that he had returned to a Christian life-style. When defense counsel objected to this testimony based on relevancy, the trial court stated that it "may have something to do with his credibility," but did not permit any additional testimony on the subject.

Section 90.106, Florida Statutes (1985), provides that a judge may not comment to the jury on the weight of the evidence or the credibility of the witnesses. Harmon's defense counsel, however, did not object to

the comments described above. In the absence of a contemporaneous objection, a conviction will not be reversed because an improper comment is made unless the comment is so prejudicial as to amount to fundamental error. See Ross v. State, 386 So.2d 1191, 1195 (Fla. 1980). Furthermore, viewed in the context in which they were made, the comments do not constitute "fundamental error." The comments were incidental within the scheme of the overall record and, in addition, were couched in qualifying terms. See Lusk v. State, 446 So.2d 1038 (Fla.), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 873, 83 L. Ed. 2d 158, 105 S. Ct. 229 (1984). Harmon has not demonstrated that these comments were harmful error.

All relief should be denied as to this claim.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL ERRED IN ADMITTING PHOTOGRAPHS OF COLE, JACKSON AND WADE WHILE PARTYING IN MYRTLE BEACH.

Next Cole asserts that the admission of photographs taken in Myrtle Beach, depicting Cole, Jackson and Wade partying with Jackson's \$10,000, was error. The crux of her complaint is that the photographs, which were taken prior to the murders of the Sumners, were not relevant, and the prosecutor's suggestion during his closing that they showed motive was improper. (TR XI 1328-1329) Cole also notes that the trial court in his sentencing order found no nexus between the trio partying and the murders.

While the record does reflect that defense counsel did objection to the admissions in Exhibit 160-171, (TR IX 923), no objection was made during the State's closing argument as to Cole's motive for being involved in these murders.

Albeit the trial court did not "find anything in the photograph to indicate anything other than that the group was involved in some heavy 'partying' in Myrtle Beach", (TR III 478), the record clearly shows that the motive for these murders was money.

Cole admitted to Detective Meacham during her statement that everyone talked about a plan to get the Sumners' credit cards and stuff, because they had blown all the money they had and needed more. (TR IX 871) Cole, Jackson and Wade returned to the Sumners' house after the murders and took coins, jewelry and their computer. (TR IX 894) Cole pawned the Sumners' jewelry and their computer before they left Jacksonville. (TR IX 913)

Although not preserved, because there was no objection to the prosecutor's statement using the photographs to develop his motive argument in closing, the record is replete with evidence heard by the jury for this exact purpose of the murders. Tying

the photographs to motive was merely one piece of evidence that explained the crime and Cole's involvement.²

This Court has consistently held that a failure to raise a contemporaneous objection when "purported" improper closing argument comments are made waives any claim concerning such comments for appellate review. Card v. State, 803 So. 2d 613, 622 (Fla. 2001). In the instant case, Cole has not made a successful assertion that an exception to the contemporaneous objection rule is present herein. Only when an unobjected to comment rises to the level of "fundamental error", which reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty or jury recommendation of death could not have obtained without the assistance of the alleged error, will a failure to preserve the issue be overlooked. See Walls v. State, 926 So. 2d 1156, 1166 (Fla. 2006); see also Dufour v. State, 495 So. 2d 154, 160-61 (Fla. 1986); Poole v. State, 997 So. 2d 382 (Fla. 2008).

Cole has failed to demonstrate error, let alone, reversible error as to this point. Moreover, even if properly preserved any reference to the photograph was de minimus and harmless in

² The courts allow attorneys wide latitude to argue to the jury during closing argument. See Thomas v. State, 748 So. 2d 970, 984 (Fla. 1999); Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982). Logical inferences may be drawn, and counsel is allowed to advance all legitimate arguments. See Thomas, 748 So. 2d at 984; Breedlove, 413 So. 2d at 8.

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